# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



Received 09/05/2023 09:29 AM

Filed 09/05/2023 09:29 AM

ROGER TOVAR,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

V.

APPEAL NO. 23-CV-165

# REGAN ZAMBRI LONG, PLLC, et al.,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM NO. 2022-CA-002053-M IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA SUPERIOR COURT, CIVIL DIVISION THE HONORABLE EBONY M. SCOTT

# **BRIEF OF APPELLANT ROGER TOVAR**

Benjamin R. Ogletree\* Faith Kalman Reyes VERDI & OGLETREE, PLLC 1325 G Street, NW, Suite 500 Washington, D.C. 20005 Ph: (202) 449-7703 Bogletree@ verdiogletree.com Freyes@verdiogletree.com

Counsel for Appellant Roger Tovar

# LIST OF PARTIES

Party	Counsel	Status

# II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- 1. The trial court erred in granting Defendants' D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss because the Complaint properly pled a cause of action for legal malpractice that was sufficient to pass muster under D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 8 and, even if the Complaint had been insufficient, the trial court should have given Plaintiff the opportunity to amend his pleading instead of dismissing the matter with prejudice;
- 2. The trial court erred when, in the alternative, it held that it would have granted summary judgment for Defendants because any summary judgment motion was premature and disputed issues of material fact and other grounds precluded summary judgment in any event; and
- 3. The trial court abused its discretion in not granting Plaintiff's request to take discovery before making a summary judgment ruling, where discovery had barely begun, none of the deadlines in the scheduling order were close, and the expert disclosure deadline had not passed.

# III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. <u>Nature of the Case</u>

This is a classic case of a trial court's improvident rush to judgment in granting a motion to dismiss that necessitates summary reversal. In April 2012, Plaintiff/Appellant/Cross-Appellee Roger Tovar ("Tovar" or "Plaintiff") was injured in an automobile accident when a fast-moving vehicle driven by an employee of McKesson Corporation negligently rear-ended Tovar's vehicle in the District of Columbia. (Appx. 13.) Tovar's injuries were devastating and permanent, including but not limited to a traumatic brain injury ("TBI") which will continue to worsen over time. Because of his TBI-related ailments, Tovar never will be able to work again and will require a lifetime of future medical care. (Appx. 13-14.)

In 2014, Tovar hired Defendants/Appellees/Cross-Appellants Regan Zambri Long, PLLC and two of its attorneys, Patrick M. Regan and Paul J. Cornoni (collectively, the "Lawyers" or "Defendants"), to bring a lawsuit against McKesson and its driver based on the auto accident, which was tried in June 2018 ("Underlying Matter"). (Appx. 15.) The jury awarded Tovar damages consisting of \$500,000 for bodily harm and \$3,297,573 in lost future earnings. (Appx. 130.) The McKesson defendants filed an appeal. In the interim, Tovar and the McKesson defendants settled the Underlying Matter for the full amount of the jury's award of \$3,797,573 (Appx. 131), and the appeal was dismissed on May 28, 2019. (Appx. 16.)

Afterwards, Tovar learned for the first time that the Lawyers could have sought additional damages for him at trial in the form of future medical expenses to cover the essential costs of his future medical care. The Lawyers, however, never informed or advised Tovar that he could seek future medical damages. (Appx. 1088, ¶¶ 6-7.) As a result, on May 9, 2022, Tovar filed this action against Defendants for professional negligence/legal malpractice. (Appx. 11-18.)

Defendants immediately filed a Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a claim and/or for Summary Judgment. (Appx. 27-64.) In their Motion, the Lawyers did not argue that Tovar failed to plead the elements of his malpractice claim, nor could

they do so. Instead, Defendants argued that the complaint failed to state a cause of action for malpractice based on Defendants' unpled affirmative defenses that Tovar's claim was (1) barred by the statute of limitations and (2) extinguished by a release provision in his settlement agreement with the McKesson defendants. (Appx. 40-46.) Defendants also sought summary judgment based on the *unpled affirmative defense* of judgmental immunity. (Appx. 46-51.) Although the trial court properly rejected Defendants' statute of limitations defense, it erroneously granted Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) motion by relying on Defendants' proffered facts and evidence outside Tovar's complaint in concluding that he failed to state a claim for malpractice based on the release and judgmental immunity doctrine. (Appx. 1176-89.) Although the court did not reach Defendants' alternative request for summary judgment, it noted in *dictum* that it would have granted that motion, too, ignoring that disputed issues of material fact and Tovar's timely and alternative request for further discovery (e.g., Appx. 915-20) would have precluded summary judgment. The trial court then dismissed Tovar's complaint with prejudice. (Appx. 1189.)

The issue in this appeal is not whether Tovar ultimately will prevail on his legal malpractice claim (although he should). The question is simply whether Tovar is entitled to proceed beyond the pleading stage to fully develop his claim and present his case for decision by a jury. The trial court's palpably flawed ruling in granting Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) motion improvidently denied him that right. Accordingly, this Court promptly should reverse the decision below and remand this case for further proceedings.

## B. <u>Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below</u>

On May 9, 2022, Tovar filed his single-count complaint ("Complaint") for legal malpractice against Defendants. (Appx. 11-18.) On July 7, 2022, the Lawyers sought and received additional time to respond to the Complaint. (Appx. 5, docket entries dated 7/21/22.) In lieu of answering the Complaint, on July 29, 2022, the Lawyers filed a Rule 12(b)(6) "Motion to Dismiss and/or for Summary Judgment" ("Motion to Dismiss"). (Appx. 27-64.) Thereafter, on August 1, 2022, Defendants filed exhibits in support of their Motion to Dismiss. (Appx. 65-887.)

On August 12, 2022, the trial court held its initial scheduling conference and set certain deadlines, including proponent's expert report deadline (November 25, 2022), opponent's expert report deadline (December 30, 2022), close of discovery (February 8, 2023), and dispositive motions (April 10, 2023). (Appx. 888.)

On August 26, 2022, Tovar filed his opposition to the Lawyers' Motion to Dismiss. (Appx. 890-921, 1155-59.) Exhibit F to Tovar's response was his affidavit seeking, in part, additional discovery to allow him to fully respond to the summary judgment portion of the Lawyers' Motion to Dismiss. (Appx. 1087-92.) On September 12, 2022, Defendants filed their reply brief. (Appx. 1160-71.) On October 21, 2022, the trial court held a hearing on the Motion. (Appx. 1225-81.)

On February 2, 2023, the trial court entered an Order granting Tovar's consent motion to extend the deadlines in the scheduling order, under which the expert deadlines were reset to February 23, 2023 (for the proponent) and March 30, 2023 (for the opponent), discovery closed on May 9, 2023, and the dispositive motions deadline was reset for June 8, 2023. (Appx. 1174-75.) The next day, on February 3, 2023, the trial court entered an order granting the Motion to Dismiss and dismissed Tovar's Complaint with prejudice ("Order"). (Appx. 1176-89.) Although the trial court did not reach the Lawyers' alternative request for summary judgment, the court noted in its Order that if it had done so, it would have granted summary judgment for Defendants. (Appx. 1188.) On March 1, 2023, Tovar timely filed this appeal from the Order. (Appx. 1190-1207.) On March 14, 2023, Defendants filed a cross appeal. (Appx. 1208-24.)

#### IV. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS</u>

#### A. <u>The Underlying Matter</u>

In 2014, Tovar retained Defendants to represent him in the Underlying Matter. (Appx. 15,  $\P$  21.) The Underlying Matter was tried before a jury over six days in 2018. (Appx. 268,  $\P$  22.) Tovar was not present in the courtroom other than during opening statements, to present his own testimony, and for closing arguments. (Appx. 268,  $\P$  23.) Prior to trial, Defendants explicitly asked Tovar to approve their trial strategy of seeking damages for future earnings, but not his *past* medical bills. (Appx. 293-95.) By contrast, Defendants never advised Tovar regarding his ability to seek *future* medical costs or sought his approval to forgo pursuing such damages at trial. (Appx. 1088.) Even so, the complaint that the Lawyers filed for Tovar in the Underlying Matter "claimed future medical care" (Appx. 915 n.10) and, during pretrial proceedings, the Lawyers repeatedly referenced Tovar's future medical costs as an element of his damages. (Appx. 119, 942-43, 1066-67.)

The jury awarded Tovar damages consisting of \$500,000 for bodily harm and \$3,297,573 in lost future *earnings*. (Appx. 16, ¶ 28; Appx. 130.) But nothing was awarded for Tovar's future medical expenses because his Lawyers never submitted that issue to the jury. While the matter was pending on appeal, the parties settled for the amount awarded by the jury and the McKesson defendants dismissed their appeal. (Appx. 16, ¶28; Appx. 130-31.) In the release settling the Underlying Matter ("Release"), Tovar expressly released only "McKesson Corporation and all of its affiliates, predecessors, successors, parents, subsidiaries, officers, directors, employees, agents, contractors, and insurers (collectively ... 'Releasees')" from any and all claims "which Tovar ever had, now has, or may ever have against the Releasees" related to the underlying vehicular accident. The Release, however, did not extinguish any potential claims by Tovar for legal malpractice or other causes of action against the Lawyers. (Appx. 131-33 (emphasis added).)

*After* he executed the Release, Plaintiff learned that Defendants could have sought damages in the trial court for his future medical expenses. (Appx. 1088,  $\P$  7 (Tovar did not learn of the ability to claim future medical care as damages while still represented by the Lawyers).) This lawsuit followed.

# B. <u>The Allegations in Tovar's Complaint</u>

Tovar filed his Complaint on May 9, 2022. (Appx. 11-18.) The Complaint's allegations—which are presumed to be true for purposes of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion—pleaded all of the elements of Tovar's legal malpractice claim:

- *Attorney-Client Relationship*: An attorney-client relationship existed between Tovar and the Lawyers. (Appx. 17, ¶ 32);
- Standard of Care: Defendants owed Tovar "a duty to exercise that degree of care and skill which a reasonably competent attorney, engaged in a similar practice and acting in similar circumstances, would exercise. This reasonable duty included but was not limited to asserting a claim for future medical care associated with Plaintiff's TBI and presenting evidence in support thereof at trial . . ." (Appx. 17, ¶ 32);
- *Breach of Standard of Care*: "Defendants breached the applicable standard of care owed to Plaintiff under the same or similar circumstances when they failed to present a claim for future medical care associated with Plaintiff's permanent TBI and present evidence in support thereof at trial in the Underlying Matter." (Appx. 17, ¶ 33); and
- *Causation/Damages*: "Defendants' breach of the standard of care was the proximate cause of Plaintiff's injuries and damages. But for Defendants' breaches of the standard of care, as aforesaid, Plaintiff would have, more likely than not, presented evidence of his need for extensive future medical treatment and care at trial, would have been successful, received a multi-million-dollar award to compensate Plaintiff for the lifetime of future care, and would have collected said award from the defendants in the Underlying Matter." (Appx. 17-18, ¶ 34; *see also* Appx. 16, ¶ 29.)

Notably, Tovar's Complaint did not reference the Release that Tovar signed with the McKesson defendants in the Underlying Matter or plead any facts that could have supported an affirmative defense of judgmental immunity for the Lawyers. (Appx. 11-18.) In his Complaint, Tovar demanded a jury trial. (Appx. 18.)

#### C. <u>The Lawyers' Motion to Dismiss</u>

Because Defendants chose not to answer the Complaint, *all of the Complaint's allegations were uncontested*. Defendants moved to dismiss the Complaint pursuant to Super. Ct. Civ. Rule 12(b)(6). (Appx. 40-46.) In addition—even though discovery barely had begun, no depositions had been scheduled, and expert disclosures were many months away—the Lawyers alternatively asked the trial court to award them summary judgment. (Appx. 46-53.)

In their Motion to Dismiss, the Lawyers applauded themselves for obtaining a verdict of \$3.7 million in the Underlying Matter (despite having failed to advise Tovar that he could have sought significantly more recovery that he would need for his lifelong future medical care) (Appx. 30) and argued that dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) was proper because: "(i) Mr. Tovar's claim is barred by the statute of limitations; (ii) Mr. Tovar's knowing and voluntary settlement of his case while on appeal precludes this legal malpractice claim; and (iii) Mr. Tovar's claim that if a lifecare planner had been called at trial [to support a claim for recovery of Tovar's future medical damages] it would have resulted in a higher verdict is entirely speculative."<sup>1</sup> (Appx. 31.) Alternatively, the Lawyers asserted that "there is no genuine issue of material fact" and thus they were entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law on their defense of "judgmental immunity"—an affirmative defense they had not raised in a pleading. (Appx. 31; *e.g.*, Appx. 1124, ¶ 8.)

#### D. Tovar's Opposition to the Lawyers' Motion to Dismiss

In his opposition brief, Tovar *first* correctly recited that the trial court was required to accept as true all of his Complaint's allegations and construe *all* facts and interferences in his favor in ruling on Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) motion. (Appx. 899.) Tovar also correctly noted that if a party appends materials outside of the pleadings to a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, such that the motion is converted to one for summary judgment under Rule 56, and "all parties must be given a reasonable opportunity to present all the material that is pertinent to the motion." (Appx. 899, quoting Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(d).) In response to Defendants' statute of limitations argument, Tovar also showed that his Complaint was timely filed. (Appx. 900-04.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ironically, despite arguing that Tovar's well-pleaded allegation that he would have received future medical damages at trial was "speculative," Defendants themselves speculated that *if* future medicals had been presented to the jury, the verdict "*would likely*" have been much lower. (Appx. 31.) In short, the Lawyers' argument that the Complaint's allegations were speculative necessarily asked the trial court to accept the Lawyers' own speculation. Under any scenario, this was an issue for the jury.

Second, Tovar demonstrated that his Release of the McKesson defendants in the Underlying Matter did not release his malpractice claim against the Lawyers in this action. (Appx. 904-08; Appx. 1155-56,  $\P$  3.)

*Third*, Tovar demonstrated that—at the early pleading stage—he met his minimal burden which required only that he *allege* the elements of his malpractice claim. (Appx. 910, 912.) Tovar also correctly noted that merely because the jury returned a sizable verdict in the Underlying Matter did not mean that Defendants did not commit malpractice or foreclose the possibility that the jury's award would have been higher if the Lawyers had presented a claim for Tovar's future medical care at trial. (Appx. 909.) Tovar rightly noted that whether the jury would have awarded more, or how much more the jury would have awarded if such future care had been tendered for their consideration, were matters of proximate causation and damages that must be resolved by a jury applying the "case within a case" methodology under which legal malpractice claims are tried. (Appx. 909-12.)

*Fourth*, Tovar cited *numerous* disputed issues of material fact that precluded summary judgment regarding the Lawyers' judgmental immunity defense. (*E.g.*, Appx. 915-20.) For example, Tovar controverted Defendants' claim that they made a deliberate strategic decision not to seek future medical damages by pointing out at least *four* different documents in the record in the Underlying Matter in which Defendants took a completely contradictory position, asserting that Tovar's future medical damages were significant issues for trial. (Appx. 915 n.10, 917-18, 893-95.) Tovar also reminded the trial court that given Defendants' choice to argue in their Motion to Dismiss vague facts that were unknowable to him (such as, for example, the names of D.C. Bar members with whom the Lawyers claimed to have consulted in deciding not to seek future medical damages, and the names of medical providers whom the Lawyers asserted would not support a claim for future medical costs, among others), discovery was needed. (Appx. 891-92, 912-18.)

This was particularly true since Tovar noted that he previously had propounded interrogatories asking Defendants to identify persons with information supporting their defenses. (Appx. 915-16; 1127, interrogatory 15; 1137 (same); 1149 (same); 1158, ¶ 13.) Even though Defendants answered Tovar's interrogatories on August 24, 2022 (Appx. 1130, 1142, 1154), *after* they filed their Motion to Dismiss on July 29, 2022 (Appx. 27-28), they failed to identify the D.C. Bar members with whom the Lawyers purportedly consulted in deciding not to seek future medical damages and otherwise played a game of "hide the ball" to avoid divulging information that would have helped Tovar refute Defendants' judgmental immunity defense in the pending Motion. (*E.g.*, Appx. 915-18; 1089-90; 1134, ¶ 6; 1138-39, ¶¶ 23-28; 1146, ¶¶ 4,6,8; 1150-51, ¶¶ 23-28; 1157-58.) Given the plethora of disputed material facts, the Lawyers simply did not and could not sustain their

burdens of pleading and proof to secure summary judgment on their unpled affirmative defense of judgmental immunity.

*Finally*, Tovar highlighted the absence of any record evidence that Defendants *ever* told him (1) that future medical damages were available to him *and* (2) that they had strategically decided against seeking such damages. (Appx. 915.) The trial court was required to accept as true all of Tovar's affidavit averments establishing that the Lawyers never advised him of the availability of seeking future medical damages, or the Lawyers' decision to abandon a claim for such damages in the Underlying Matter. (Appx. 1087-88, ¶¶ 4-9.) In short, given the requirements that the trial court must accept as true all of the Complaint's allegations and construe all facts and inferences in Tovar's favor, and that it could not grant summary judgment in the face of disputed issues of material fact, Tovar argued that the Lawyers' Motion to Dismiss must be denied. (*E.g.*, Appx. 920.)

#### E. <u>The Lawyers' Reply</u>

Defendants confirmed the lack of any basis for their Motion to Dismiss by inappropriately attaching additional exhibits to their Reply brief, including two emails, and by raising issues in Reply that they failed to raise in their initial briefing. (Appx. 1160-71.) Importantly, the two e-mail exhibits attached to the Reply—which Defendants claimed purportedly showed that Tovar knew before trial that a claim for future medical costs would not be asserted (Appx. 1163)—demonstrated no such thing and, on top of that, were unauthenticated and contained inadmissible hearsay. (Appx. 1168-69.) In addition, the Lawyers misstated the contents of Tovar's response brief, incorrectly summarized Tovar's request for additional discovery, and (without record support) asserted that Tovar was aware that Defendants decided not to claim future medicals at trial. (Appx. 1162-64.) Defendants also touted their claim that Tovar originally was "ecstatic" with the jury's verdict—an irrelevant point since Tovar did not know that the Lawyers had failed to present to the jury a huge category of significant future medical damages until after the Underlying Matter was settled. (Appx. 918-19, 1163-64.)

For the first time in their Reply brief, Defendants argued that because Tovar did not produce expert testimony (even though no expert deadline had passed), he could not sustain his claim. (Appx. 1165-67.) The Lawyers' primary support for this argument was an inapposite, unpublished 1990 decision on a Rule 11 motion in a *medical* (not legal) malpractice case in which a trial court noted that the plaintiff should have consulted an expert before filing suit. (Appx. 1167, 1170-71.) Defendants failed to cite any rule, statute, regulation, or other binding precedent that required Tovar to proffer an expert's opinion *prior to* either the expert deadline or before Defendants responded to discovery in a meaningful way.

#### F. <u>The Trial Court's Order</u>

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