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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The only error made by the District of Columbia Superior Court was the denial of RZL's Motion to Dismiss and/or for Summary Judgment on statute of limitations grounds. The Order, in all other respects, was properly decided and should be affirmed. Under the standard of review of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, dismissal must be affirmed for 3 reasons: (1) the Complaint failed to state a plausible claim upon which relief can be granted based on the speculative nature of the allegations; (2) the Superior Court correctly held that Tovar's settlement and release of all future costs incurred as a result of his accident precludes this malpractice claim; and (3) Tovar's claim is barred by the statute of limitations.

The Superior Court's grant of RZL's request for summary judgment should not be disturbed because: (1) the judgmental immunity doctrine bars this suit as the trial tactics employed by RZL was a reasonable exercise of professional judgment; (2) the Order's holding on summary judgment issues was not dictum; (3) Tovar's failure to submit expert testimony is fatal to the survival of his malpractice claim; and (4) there can be no proximate cause based on pure speculation in the absence of proof linking the alleged negligence to an actual harm.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Properly Granted RZL's Motion to Dismiss

Tovar contends that the trial court erred when it treated the arguments raised in RZL's Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss as a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment by engaging in fact finding and considering matters outside the Complaint. (**Tovar's Brief Section VI.B**). The trial court set forth the legal standard for a motion to dismiss and for summary judgment but continued to style its ruling as dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6). (**Appx. 1179-80, 1188**). In such circumstances, where the court considered extraneous documents as part of its decision on a motion to dismiss but did not convert it to one for summary judgment, this Court "treat[s] the dismissal as a grant of summary judgment." *Taylor v. Akin, Gump, Strauss, Hauer & Feld*, 859 A.2d 142, 146 (D.C. 2004); *see also GLM P'ship v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co.*, 753 A.2d 995, 997 n.6 (D.C. 2000) (citing *Kitt v. Pathmakers, Inc.*, 672 A.2d 76, 79 (D.C.1996)); *Wemhoff v. Inv'rs Mgmt. Corp. of Am.*, 455 A.2d 897, 899 (D.C. 1983).

Conversion to summary judgment is proper if "all parties [are] given a reasonable opportunity to present material relevant to the Rule 56 motion before it is decided." *Kitt*, 672 A.2d at 79 (quoting *Vincent v. Anderson*, 621 A.2d 367, 372–73 (D.C.1993)). Tovar makes no claim that he did not have a sufficient opportunity to respond to RZL's motion for summary judgment or to present all evidence

pertinent to such motion. In fact, Tovar was given an opportunity to present, and did present, a Statement of Genuinely Disputed Material Facts, 18 exhibits, including an affidavit, and presented argument on summary judgment issues at the October 21 hearing. (**Appx. 890-1159, 1225-81**). Tovar was afforded full notice that the trial court could apply summary judgment standards to RZL's Motion and was thus not prejudiced by the grant of summary judgment. Accordingly, the trial court's dismissal – treated as a grant of summary judgment – was not in error and should be affirmed.¹

Even if the trial court erred in considering matters outside of the pleadings, the dismissal may be affirmed where the complaint itself, without reference to those outside materials, fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. *See Washkoviak v. Student Loan Mktg. Ass'n*, 900 A.2d 168, 180 (D.C. 2006). Additionally, “[w]here there will be no procedural unfairness, [this Court] may affirm a judgment on any valid ground, even if that ground was not relied upon by the trial judge or raised or considered in the trial court.” *Nat'l Ass'n of Postmasters of U.S. v. Hyatt Regency Washington*, 894 A.2d 471, 474 (D.C. 2006) (quoting *In re Walker*, 856 A.2d 579, 586 (D.C.2004)).

¹ Tovar's argument that summary judgment was premature lacks merit. This legal malpractice case differs from most in that the entire record was available to the parties and the Court and RZL produced their entire file to Tovar, obviating the need to defer judgment until more discovery had been completed. Moreover, Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56(b)(1) provides that “a party may file a motion for summary judgment *at any time* until 30 days after the close of all discovery.” (emphasis added).

As demonstrated below, whether the trial court considered the issue in the context of a motion to dismiss or a motion for summary judgment, the outcome is the same.

B. Tovar’s Complaint Failed To Plead A Plausible Claim For Legal Malpractice

1. Pleading Standard Required to Survive a Motion to Dismiss Under D.C. Superior Court Rule 12(b)(6)

The standard of review of a trial court’s decision to dismiss a complaint for the failure to state a claim is *de novo*. *Oparaugo v. Watts*, 884 A.2d 63, 75 (D.C. 2005). This Court has adopted the pleading standard articulated by the United States Supreme Court in *Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544 (2007) and *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662 (2009) for purposes of evaluating a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. *See Potomac Dev. Corp. v. D.C.*, 28 A.3d 531, 544 (D.C. 2011). Under this standard, a complaint must include “more than an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me accusation” and “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” *Id.* (quoting *Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 678). Facial plausibility means that the complaint alleges sufficient factual content which enables a reasonable inference to be drawn that the defendant is liable for the acts or omissions alleged. *See Id.* (quoting *Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 678). “The plausibility standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,’ but it

asks for more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully.” *Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 678 (quoting *Twombly*, 550 U.S. at 556).

A pleading that offers “[t]hreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do[es] not suffice” nor do “‘naked assertions’ devoid of ‘further factual enhancement.’” *Id.* (quoting *Twombly*, 550 U.S. at 555, 570) (“Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level.”). Likewise, where the facts alleged do not support a reasonable inference that liability is plausible, the complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted and it must be dismissed. *See Chamberlain v. Am. Honda Fin. Corp.*, 931 A.2d 1018, 1023 (D.C. 2007); Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(6). In addition to the allegations in the Complaint, the Court may consider, under Rule 12(b)(6), documents referenced therein that are central to Tovar’s claim and matters of public record and records of prior litigation. *Oparaugo*, 884 A.2d at 76; *Drake v. McNair*, 993 A.2d 607, 616 (D.C. 2010).

Here, the reviewable documents include the Complaint (**Appx. 11**), the docket and filings in the underlying litigation (**Appx. 75-130, 323-40, 353-54, 1062-85, 1093-98**), trial testimony (**Appx. 356-887**), and the Settlement Agreement (**Appx. 131-34**). An examination of these documents, even when accepting Tovar’s factual allegations as true, demonstrates that the Complaint does not state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.

2. The Superior Court Appropriately Dismissed the Complaint Because Tovar Did Not Allege Sufficient Facts Establishing a Reasonable Inference That RZL’s Purported Breach was the Proximate Cause of Any Harm

In the District of Columbia, a plaintiff must allege facts to support each element of his legal malpractice claim: (1) that there is an attorney-client relationship; (2) that the attorney neglected a reasonable duty; and (3) that the attorney’s negligence resulted in and was the proximate cause of a loss to the plaintiff. *Mills v. Cooter*, 647 A.2d 1118, 1123 (D.C. 1994). In the context of causation, “[a] plaintiff must link up the breach of duty to the loss he claims to have sustained.” *Herbin v. Hoeffel*, 806 A.2d 186, 194-96 (D.C. 2002). Conclusory allegations of the harm do not suffice to support causation. At the pleading stage, where conclusory allegations do “not ‘set forth a plausible description of a lost [claim] that, absent the attorney’s alleged neglect, would have assured the plaintiff success,’ the trial court [is] left to speculate.” *Id.* (quoting *W. Bend Mut. Ins. Co. v. Schumacher*, 844 F.3d 670, 677-79 (7th Cir. 2016)).

This Court “decline[s] to find proximate cause where [it] would have to speculate about a legal result.” *Pietrangelo v. Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale & Dorr, LLP*, 68 A.3d 697, 710 (D.C. 2013). The allegations in Tovar’s Complaint are devoid of any facts to support proximate cause and merely alleges that a potential harm

resulted from RZL's alleged breach, requiring the Court to speculate about the plausibility of the claim asserted.

The Complaint alleges that at trial, RZL pursued claims for Tovar's lost future earnings and bodily injuries, established by his treating physicians' and experts' testimony that his injuries were permanent. (**Appx. 15 ¶ 24**). Tovar further alleges that RZL did not present a claim for, or evidence of, his future medical treatment and/or expenses at trial through his physicians or a life care planner and did not request the jury to award him any sum for these future expenses. (**Appx. 16 ¶ 27**). Tovar claims RZL did not advise him that was the strategy. (**Appx. 15-16 ¶ 26**). At the close of the 6-day trial, the jury found in favor of Tovar and awarded him \$500,000 for bodily injuries and \$3,297,573 for lost future earnings. (**Appx. 16 ¶ 28**).

Tovar asserts that he is precluded from seeking and recovering future medical treatment and expenses from the McKesson Defendants as a result of RZL's failure to assert such a claim at trial. (**Appx. 16 ¶ 29**). As to proximate cause, the Complaint alleges: "But for [RZL's] breaches . . . [Tovar] would have, more likely than not, presented evidence of his need for extensive future medical treatment and care at trial, would have been successful, received a multi-million-dollar award to compensate [him] for the life time of future care, and would have collected said award from the defendants in the Underlying Matter." (**Appx. 16-17 ¶ 34**). "This

alleged outcome is predicated upon mere speculation.” *Pietrangelo*, 68 A.3d at 710 (dismissing legal malpractice claim on Rule 12(b)(6) motion under similar alleged facts); *see also Mount v. Baron*, 154 F. Supp. 2d 3 (D.D.C. 2001).

Tovar argues that his Complaint sufficiently pled facts in support of the proximate cause element and directs the Court to allegations asserting that “but for” RZL not presenting a claim for future medical care to the jury, Tovar “would have, more likely than not,” presented such evidence at trial, the jury would have found in his favor, he would have received a multi-million-dollar award for future medical care, and he would have collected the award from the defendants in the Underlying Matter. (**Tovar’s Brief at 7**) (quoting **Appx. 17-18 ¶¶ 33-34**). The allegations that RZL breached their duty by not presenting such a claim at trial and that such alleged breach was the proximate cause of his alleged damages are not factual allegations entitled to the presumption of truth. *See Sundberg v. TTR Realty, LLC*, 109 A.3d 1123, 1128–29 (D.C. 2015) (“[T]he tenet that a court must accept as true all of the allegations contained in a complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusions.”) (quoting *Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 678).

Contrary to Tovar’s arguments, his Complaint did not plead any facts that, if true, plausibly demonstrate that the decision not to pursue a claim for future medicals at trial was the proximate cause of his claimed damages. The Complaint’s allegations are similar to those asserted in *Pietrangelo* where the plaintiff alleged “that ‘but for’

WilmerHale's filing, the Supreme Court would have granted certiorari, found in his favor on the merits, and remanded the case to the federal district court, which would have ordered Pietrangelo's reinstatement into the military." *Pietrangelo*, 68 A.3d at 710. This Court, in that case, found that "[s]uch compound speculation is insufficient as a matter of law to support a claim for breach of fiduciary duty" and that there were no facts alleged "from which proximate cause and injury can be inferred." *Id.* Here, the facts alleged are such that Tovar is unable establish the existence of anything more than the possibility that he is entitled to the relief sought. The result of this case should follow the result in *Pietrangelo* – dismissal of Tovar's claims under Rule 12(b)(6).

It is entirely speculative to infer that had RZL presented evidence and testimony to support a claim for future medical treatment in the underlying trial, that the opposing parties would not have submitted evidence rebutting the claim, that the jury would have found for Tovar and would have awarded him an amount in excess of the roughly \$3.8 million he in-fact received. Moreover, it calls for pure speculation to assume that the jury, in their deliberations, did not account for the evidence that Tovar's TBI was permanent (as such evidence was presented) and include future treatment costs in their calculation of the bodily injury award. It is also speculative to assume that the McKesson Defendants would not have included an argument in their Motion for New Trial or, in the Alternative, for Remittitur based

on the assumed award for future medicals, and that it would not have been granted. Lastly, it is conjecture to conclude that the case would settle on appeal for the amount of a potential higher verdict, or that Tovar would win on appeal.

Moreover, Tovar's uncertainty that he would even present a claim for future medical expenses further demonstrates that his legal malpractice claim is based on conjecture. (**Appx. 17 ¶ 34**) (“[Tovar] would have, *more likely than not*, presented evidence of his need for extensive future medical treatment and care at trial. . .”) (emphasis added). These allegations do not meet the Rule 12(b)(6) standard for pleading sufficient facts to state a claim of legal malpractice on which relief can be granted. Accordingly, the dismissal of Tovar's Complaint under D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(6) is proper and the trial court's Order should be affirmed as the Complaint failed to allege facts linking the alleged error to his claimed damages.

3. The Trial Court's Dismissal Based on Tovar's Settling the Matter on Appeal was Proper

As stated above, the Superior Court properly considered the Settlement Agreement on the Motion to Dismiss because it is central to Tovar's claim and referenced in the Complaint.² *See Oparaugo*, 884 A.2d at 76 n.10; *see also* (**Appx. 16 ¶ 28**). Tovar bases his malpractice claim on the fact that a claim for future medical treatment and expenses was not asserted at trial. (*See generally* **Appx. 11-18**). While

² Tovar's Opposition to RZL's Motion did not contest the consideration of the Settlement Agreement on the Motion to Dismiss argument. (**Appx. 890-921**).

the appeal of the Underlying Matter was pending, Tovar and the McKesson Defendants entered into a Settlement Agreement whereby Tovar would receive the full amount of the verdict in exchange for his release of “any and all past, present or *future* actions, causes of action, *claims*, demands, liabilities, suits, *damages*, *costs*, *expenses*, or obligations of any kind whatsoever, which Tovar ever had, now has, or may ever have against the Releasees,” arising out of the April 2012 accident. (**Appx. 131-32**) (emphasis added).

Prior to and during trial, Tovar knew he would potentially face future medical expenses due to his injuries. (**Appx. 83, 86-87, 92-93, 97, 119, 127**). Tovar attended all 6 days of trial, where no such evidence or testimony was submitted and no such claim was made. Despite having such knowledge, Tovar carefully read and understood the terms of the Release that precluded him from pursuing a claim for future medical expenses and proceeded to execute the Release forever subjecting himself to its terms. (**Appx. 132**). While he could have, at any time, expressed disagreement with the terms of the Release, he did not. By signing the Settlement Agreement on April 25, 2019, Tovar accepted the full value of the verdict, which RZL obtained for him, believing it to be fair and reasonable. (**Appx. 132-33**). Only later did Tovar claim that his attorneys’ trial tactics and advice were arguably flawed and the settlement/verdict inadequate. Similar to *Venable* and *Vogel*, Tovar’s willing and knowledgeable release of all future damages and costs precludes this

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